SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 75,844

NORBERTO PIETRI, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

)

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PETER BIRCH, ESQUIRE BIRCH AND MURRELL Florida Bar No. 304281 Suite 400 Comeau Building 319 Clematis Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone 407/832-2833 Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court of Appeal although Appellee will also be referred to as the State or the prosecution.

The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 18, 1988 Appellant walked away from the Lantana Community Correctional Center Work Release Program. He began a four day drug binge, ingesting cocaine day and night (R 2838). On Monday morning, August 22nd, Appellant had exhausted his supply of cocaine. He had been committing burglaries to support his habit. When he ran out of cocaine, he would commit another burglary (R 2338-2348).

Appellant located a house to burglarize and proceeded to steal several items of jewelry and other property, including two guns. The acquisition of all this property was for one purpose: to get cocaine (R 2377-2381).

After committing the burglary, Appellant drove south on Interstate 95, exceeding the speed limit, destined for the location where he could trade the stolen goods for cocaine (R 2385). Appellant exited the highway and proceeded past Officer Chappell, who was sitting on his motorcycle by an old restaurant. Officer Chappell was observing the motorists who passed by, apparently watching for those exceeding the speed limit (R 1874).

When Appellant passed Officer Chappell he was driving at a relatively high rate of speed. The officer began to follow Appellant (R 1875-1876). He pursued Appellant, with his blue lights on, as he drove over an overpass, turned right at an intersection, and turned right at the next street (R 1840). When Appellant stopped his truck, which was stolen, it was apparently too close to the intersection. Officer Chappell

-2-

called out to Appellant to drive further forward, which he did R 1894). The officer then got off his motorcycle and approached the truck. While the officer was by the back tire, and within arm's reach of the truck, a hand holding a gun was seen emerging from the driver's window. One shot was fired and the truck sped away (R 1908-1910). Appellant, who is blind in his right eye, had struck Officer Chappell in the heart.

Appellant drove to his sister's house. Taking his nephew with him, Appellant disposed of the truck by dumping it into a canal which runs along Florida's turnpike. The truck was later recovered and identified as the one at the scene of the shooting. Appellant's fingerprint was inside the driver's door R 2145-2150 and R 2251).

The death of Officer Chappell generated an intensive search for his killer. Appellant soon became the prime suspect. On Wednesday evening, two and a half days after the shooting, the police closed in on Appellant's sister's house. Appellant fled from the home with the police in pursuit R 2075-2081).

In his flight from the police, Appellant came upon Tami Nelson as she sat in her car in the driveway, waiting for her husband. Appellant ordered her to drive. When Tami Nelson hesitated, Appellant pushed her from the car and put the car in reverse. As he was backing away, Keith Nelson, Tami's husband, ran up to the car. Unknown to Appellant, the Nelson's five year old son was strapped in a seat belt in the back seat. Keith Nelson approached the car intending to remove his son.

-3-

Seeing this, Appellant slowed the car allowing the father to remove his son from the car (R 2210-2211 and R 2218-2219).

The police eventually located Appellant driving the Nelson's car. A high speed chase occurred with Appellant crashing the car on a golf course. Appellant left the car and fled on foot. As the police closed in on Appellant, he reached into his pants. The police thought he was going for a gun. Appellant, who was wearing shorts and nothing else, did not have a gun. What he removed from his pants and put into his mouth was cocaine (R 2236-2238).

Appellant was indicted for sixteen counts of various crimes, including first degree murder (R 3177). Count nine, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, was severed. A single trial was held on the remaining counts. At the conclusion of a jury trial Appellant was found guilty as charged of all counts tried, including first degree murder, except he was acquitted of false imprisonment of the Nelson boy (R 3603).

Two weeks after the guilt phase of Appellant's trial, a sentencing phase was held. At this second phase, the State's only witness was a deputy clerk who testified to various criminal records of Appellant's that he had previously prepared (R 2824-2826). In contrast, Appellant presented the testimony of several family members who testified to Appellant's impoverished upbringing and cocaine addiction. Also presented was the testimony of Yoris Santana, who had been with Appellant the four days before the shooting and observed him ingesting

-4-

cocaine, day and night (R 2838-2840). Two experts testified to the ramifications of Appellant's upbringing and cocaine addiction, both stating that Appellant's cocaine addiction would significantly impair his judgment (R 2925-3024).

The jury recommended by an eight-to-four vote that Appellant be sentenced to death (R 3680). On March 15, 1990, the trial court followed the jury's recommendation and imposed the death sentence along with various prison terms for the other offenses (R 3708-3717). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed (R 3739). This appeal follows.

POINT ONE

APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF A FAIR TRIAL BY THE JURY SELECTION PROCESS EMPLOYED BY THE COURT.

POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE.

POINT THREE

APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF A FAIR TRIAL WHEN THE COURT COMMENTED ON THE EVIDENCE.

POINT FOUR

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING PREJUDICIAL SIMILAR FACT EVIDENCE THAT HAD NO PROBATIVE VALUE.

POINT FIVE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING A PORTRAIT PHOTOGRAPH OF THE VICTIM.

POINT SIX

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL TO FIRST DEGREE MURDER AND TO REDUCE THE CHARGE TO SECOND DEGREE MURDER.

POINT SEVEN

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION ON CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

POINT EIGHT

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL ERROR IN ITS INACCURATE JURY INSTRUCTION ON PREMEDITATION.

POINT NINE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM SEEKING THE DEATH PENALTY.

-6-

POINT TEN

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OF A JUROR WHO WOULD AUTOMATICALLY VOTE FOR THE DEATH PENALTY FOR ONE CONVICTED OF THE FIRST DEGREE MURDER OF A POLICE OFFICER.

POINT ELEVEN

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY FOUND THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE THAT THE CAPITAL FELONY WAS COMMITTED WHILE APPELLANT WAS ENGAGED IN FLIGHT AFTER COMMITTING A BURGLARY.

POINT TWELVE

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY FOUND THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE THE KILLING WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.

POINT THIRTEEN

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THREE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES THAT COULD ONLY BE TREATED AS A SINGLE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

POINT FOURTEEN

THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OF SECTION 921.141(5)(j), FLORIDA STATUTES IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT ESTABLISHES VICTIM STATUS AS A FACTOR FOR IMPOSING THE DEATH PENALTY.

POINT FIFTEEN

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ADEQUATELY INSTRUCT THE JURY ON MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

POINT SIXTEEN

APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCE IS INVALID BECAUSE IT IS BASED UPON A LESS THAN UNANIMOUS RECOMMENDATION BY THE JURY.

POINT SEVENTEEN

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY IT COULD RECOMMEND A LIFE SENTENCE DESPITE THE EXISTENCE OF AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

POINT EIGHTEEN

APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCE IS DISPROPORTIONATE TO SENTENCES IMPOSED FOR SIMILAR OFFENSES.

POINT NINETEEN

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO PREPARE A GUIDELINES SCORESHEET WHEN SENTENCING APPELLANT FOR THE NON-CAPITAL OFFENSES.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant was deprived of a fair trial because of the jury selection process employed by the court. This process included the empaneling of the venire, the actual questioning of the jurors, denying Appellant's motion for a change of venue preventing Appellant from properly presenting evidence and establishing the need to change venue. Prior to the empaneling of prospective jurors, Appellant had requested the trial court to strike the venire based on comments made to the prospective jurors by the Clerk of Court. Not only did the trial court deny Appellant's request to strike the venire, he refused to compel the Clerk to appear and present testimony as to what he had said to the prospective jurors. Continuing with the jury selection process, the trial court denied Appellant's request to ask jurors having knowledge of the case, what it was they It was necessary to conduct this inquiry because of the knew. tremendous amount of publicity given Appellant's case, and the inflammatory nature of that publicity. This publicity was such that nearly half of the jurors having knowledge of the case admitted they could not be impartial. Also, there had been publicity of a mistrial in Appellant's case and several jurors indicated they had recent knowledge of the case which may have included knowledge of the mistrial. could This not be determined without asking jurors the nature of the knowledge they had of Appellant's case. It was also necessary to ask jurors what they knew of Appellant's case in order to properly determine if venue should be changed. Based upon the trial

-9-

court's earlier ruling that it would determine the need to change venue after an attempt to select a jury was made, it was necessary to ask jurors the nature of their knowledge in order for the trial court to make this determination.

The trial court erred in denying Appellant's challenges for cause of jurors who had knowledge of Appellant's case. The trial court also erred in denying several challenges for cause of jurors who indicated an inability to be impartial, regardless of their knowledge. These jurors indicated by their answers that they could not follow the law on premeditation and/or voluntary intoxication.

During Appellant's trial, the court made the comment "he would appear to have a very strong case". This comment, if heard by the jury, created the inference that the trial court thought Appellant was guilty of first degree murder. The trial court should have granted Appellant a mistrial after making this comment. Not only did the trial court not grant a mistrial, it failed to conduct an adequate inquiry to determine whether any juror heard the comment.

A police officer was allowed to testify that when he attempted to stop Appellant's vehicle, he observed Appellant "waving me up." There was no evidence that when Appellant shot the police officer, the Appellant had "waved up" the victim. Thus, the police officer's testimony of Appellant "waving me up" was totally lacking in probative value. However, it was extremely prejudicial in that it created the impression of Appellant having a propensity to lure police officers before

-10 -

shooting them.

The trial court allowed the State to introduce as State's exhibit number 1 an eight-by-ten inch glossy portrait photograph of the police officer who was shot by Appellant. This photograph served no purpose but to convey the loss suffered by the death of the victim. By introducing this portrait photograph, and labeling it State's exhibit number 1, the State was clearly introducing personal characteristic evidence of the victim. The photograph had no relevant purpose and was designed merely to arouse the sympathy of the jury.

The State conceded prior to trial that it could not prove first degree murder of Appellant other than by showing the killing to have occurred from a premeditated design. The State then attempted to establish the element of premeditation through the use of circumstantial evidence. This circumstantial evidence was not inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence. It of was equal probability that the shooting occurred as the result of panic as from a premeditated design. Therefore, the trial court was required to reduce the first degree murder charge against Appellant to second degree murder.

The trial court instructed the jury that it could determine if Appellant committed the killing from a premeditated design based on the circumstances of the killing, and Appellant's flight from the killing. But the trial court failed to give the jury an instruction on circumstantial evidence whereby it was required, under the law regarding

-11-

circumstantial evidence, that it adopt that position consistent with innocence if the evidence failed to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence. The trial court erred in failing to give an instruction on circumstantial evidence. It also erred in failing to give an accurate instruction on the element of premeditation.

Appellant's death sentence is the result of caprice and emotion. Prior to trial, both the State and Appellant had agreed to a settlement of the case whereby Appellant would be sentenced to two life sentences followed by two hundred years imprisonment. The State subsequently withdrew its approval of this settlement <u>solely</u> because the victim's family wanted Appellant sentenced to death. Since this was nothing more than an arbitrary seeking of the death penalty, the trial court was required to prevent the State from seeking the death penalty against Appellant.

During the voir dire, one juror stated he would automatically vote for the death penalty if Appellant were convicted of premeditated killing of a police officer. Appellant's challenge for cause to this juror should have been granted.

Since the State agreed prior to trial that it could not seek a conviction of first degree murder on the theory of felony murder, the State was prevented from using felony murder as an aggravating circumstance. Having in essence dropped the charge of felony murder against Appellant, the State could not claim, at phase two, that it was an aggravating circumstance

-12-

that the killing occurred during the commission of a felony, or flight therefrom.

The killing of the police officer was the result of a chance meeting between Appellant and the victim which lasted but a few minutes. The killing therefore was not the result of "heightened premeditation". The trial court therefore improperly found the aggravating circumstance that the killing was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner.

The trial court acknowledged that three aggravating circumstances on which the jury were instructed could only be treated as a single aggravating circumstance. These three aggravating circumstances were that the killing occurred to "avoid arrest", "hinder law enforcement", and that the "victim was a law enforcement officer". Yet, the State used these aggravating circumstances in arguing for the death three penalty for appellant. It also argued that, unlike the trial court, the jury could treat these aggravating circumstances as inflated number two aggravating circumstances. This of aggravating circumstances undoubtedly prejudiced the jury against Appellant and deprived him of a fair sentencing proceeding.

Section 921.141(5)(j), Florida Statutes (1989), specifies the aggravating circumstance that the victim of the killing was a law enforcement officer. This aggravating circumstance is unconstitutional because it established victim status as a factor for imposing the death penalty. Since the jury had already been informed that it could recommend the

-13-

death penalty because the killing occurred to avoid arrest or hinder the enforcement of the law, that the victim was a police officer was nothing more than imposing the death penalty because of the status of the victim.

The trial court refused to read a list of nonstatutory mitigating circumstances requested by Appellant to the jury. The jury could not expect to be able to determine what it could consider as a mitigating circumstance without the reading of this nonstatutory list.

Since a guilty verdict by less than a "substantial majority" of a twelve-member jury is so unreliable as to violate due process, the same must be said of a verdict recommending a sentence of death. In Appellant's case, the jury recommended death by a vote of eight-to-four. This death recommendation is unconstitutional as denying Appellant due process and should not be treated as a death recommendation. This is particularly true since the jury was never told that it could recommend a life sentence despite the existence of aggravating circumstances.

The death sentence imposed upon Appellant is clearly disproportionate. Based on his history, and the circumstances of the offense, Appellant clearly does not fall within the category of "the most aggravated, the most indefensible of crimes". This is particularly true since the State was only seeking the death penalty against Appellant to fulfill the wishes of the victim's family.

-14 -

POINT ONE

APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF A FAIR TRIAL BY THE JURY SELECTION PROCESS EMPLOYED BY THE COURT.

When police officer Brian Chappell was killed, it generated enormous amount of publicity. Numerous news an devoted to his killing, his funeral, and the articles were pursuit of his killer (See, Xerox Copy of Exhibits, pp. publicity of this event was so intense that the 33-71). The trial judae himself initially suggested that careful consideration be given to a change of venue (R 12).

Appellant did file a Motion To Change Venue. This motion was ultimately denied (R 825 and R 1775). Appellant also moved to strike the venire and to individually voir dire jurors regarding their knowledge of Appellant's prospective case. These motions were also denied (R 824 and R 845-846). conclusion of the voir dire, Appellant had exhausted all At the peremptory challenges. His request for additional his of challenges was denied. Appellant also voiced his objection to the composition of the jury and renewed all of his motions pertaining to the manner in which the jury was selected. Appellant's numerous objections were denied and the case proceeded to trial. The denial of Appellant's motion to strike venire, motion to individually voir dire prospective the jurors, and motion to change venue amounted to a jury selection process that deprived him of a fair trial.

A. Motion To Strike The Venire

Prior to the commencement of jury selection, Appellant moved to strike the venire. The basis for

-15-

Appellant's motion was that John Dunkle, the Clerk of Court, had made several improper statements of law to the jury panel that was to be brought into court, and Appellant was not present when these statements were made (R 792-799). The trial court informed Appellant that it needed a record of what was said (R 800). In response, Appellant requested the court to the attendance of Mr. Dunkle to testify to the compel The trial court denied this he made (R 801). statements request advising Appellant that it was necessary to have had a court reporter present (R 801). Appellant then presented a witness to the remarks by Dunkle (R 802). The court, however, again noted that the witness would be merely testifying to hearsay and was not the same as a record. Appellant, pursuant the Sixth Amendment, again asked the court to compel to Dunkle's attendance, which was again denied (R 802).

Gordon Appellant presented the testimony of Richstone. He testified to several improper statements made by Dunkle. Dunkle told the prospective jurors they were to decide guilt or innocence (R 804); both parties presented witnesses (R 805); challenges for cause are for people who know something about the case (R 806); most trials are run of the mill (R 807); the lawyers will try to convince you to reach their (R 807); a basic premise is the defendant is conclusion innocent until proven guilty (R 807); the prosecution must prove the material allegations beyond a reasonable doubt but the frivolous allegations (R 808); negotiated plea bargains not were presently occurring (R 809); objections were technical

-16-

(R 813). Richstone noted that Dunkle appeared very much as an authority figure to the jury (R 812). At the conclusion of Richstone's testimony, Appellant once again requested the court to call Dunkle as a witness. This was denied. The trial court also denied Appellant's motion to strike the venire.

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