$FILED_{\text{SID J. WHITE}}$

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

NOV 4 1991

CASE NO. 75,844

NORBERTO PIETRI,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, WEST PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SYLVIA H. ALONSO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 767190 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The trial court did not err in refusing to strike the jury venire due to the Clerk of the Court's communications with the jury. The prospective venire was continuously advised that the trial judge would be instructing the jury on the law; moreover, the communication at issue occurred at the most preliminary stages of trial, prior to voir dire and not during deliberations, a critical stage of trial. As such, appellant was not prejudiced by the Clerk's preliminary communications with the jury.

By the same token, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying appellant's motion for individualized voir dire and motion for change of venue. The trial court was not required to question the jurors individually about the specific contents of news reports to which they might have been exposed. Furthermore, given the eighteen month period of time between the extensive media coverage and trial, and the non-prejudicial and factual nature of the news reports published, a change of venue was not required. This was affirmed by the ability to select a fair and impartial jury who could swear to follow the law and base their decision solely on the facts adduced at trial.

2. The trial court's denial of appellant's challenges for cause was not preserved for appellate review on several grounds. Additionally, appellant's challenges for cause against the various jurors were properly denied where the jurors indicated that they would follow the law and base their decision on the facts adduced at trial.

- 3. In the absence of any evidence that the jury heard the statement, "he appears to have a very strong case, and understood the "he" to mean the prosecutor, the trial court did not err in denying appellant's motion for mistrial.
- 4. Since there was no evidence that appellant "waved up" the victim prior to the murder, and since it is not criminal to "wave up" an officer, the trial court did not err in admitting this so-called similar fact evidence. Furthermore, since the testimony tended to establish that appellant would lure officers out of their police vehicles in order to provide appellant an opportunity to flee, the testimony was relevant as evidence of flight.
- 5. The photograph of the victim in full uniform was relevant because it demonstrated the cross belt used to hold the officer's revolver which the victim was wearing at the time of the shooting. The bullet that killed the officer broke through the cross-belt and was relevant to determining the distance from which the officer was shot. In any event, the photograph did not add anything which the jury did not already know, i.e. that the victim was a police officer killed in the line of duty, and the trial court took efforts to diminish any inflammatory impact which could result from the photo. Finally, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 6. The jury was entitled reject appellant's hypothesis of innocence, that he did not intend to shoot and kill the officer. Thus, based on the evidence adduced at trial, there was

sufficient evidence on which to find that the murder was premeditated.

- 7. In the absence of a mandate requiring instruction on circumstantial evidence, the trial court did not err in refusing to instruct the jury on circumstantial evidence where the jury was instructed on the burden of proof and the presumption of innocence. The trial court's instruction on flight did nothing to exacerbate the lack of a circumstantial evidence instruction especially where, as here, the trial court advised the jury that "there may be reasons for [flight] which are fully consistent with innocence," followed by a list of possible reasons inconsistent with quilt.
- 8. Appellant's constitutional attack on the standard jury instruction of premeditated murder was not preserved for appellate review. On the merits, the trial court's instruction on premeditated murder was in accordance with the instruction set forth in the Florida Standard Jury Instructions; the definition of deliberation is already subsumed within the definition of killing with premeditation as provided for in the standard instructions.
- 9. Appellant does not have a constitutional right to enter into a plea agreement with the State. By the same token, it is within the State's sole discretion whether to seek punishment in the electric chair. As such, the trial court did not err in denying appellant's motion to prevent the State from seeking the death penalty.

- 10. Having determined that the juror would be able to weigh the mitigating and aggravating circumstances before recommending a sentence of life or death, and that the juror could follow the trial court's instructions, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying appellant's challenge for cause.
- 11. Since jeopardy did not attach to the murder charge under a felony murder theory by virtue of the prosecutor's stipulation not to proceed to trial on felony murder, the trial court was not precluded from finding that the murder was committed while engaged in the commission of a felony or flight therefrom.
- 12. Given the amount of time which transpired between the initial pursuit of appellant by the officer and the shooting of the officer, and the execution-style manner in which the killing was committed, the trial court did not err in finding that the murder was cold, calculated and premeditated.
- 13. The trial court did not err in instructing the jury on the three aggravating factors which were ultimately merged into one. Further, the trial court granted appellant's specially requested instruction which advised the jury that if they found that one or more of the aggravating factors overlapped, they could consider them as only one aggravating circumstance.
- 14. Appellant's constitutional challenge to the aggravating circumstance that the victim of the killing was a law enforcement officer is most in light of <u>Payne v Tennessee</u>, 5 F.L.W. Fed. S708 (April 24, 1991); in any event, even under <u>Booth v Maryland</u>, 482

- U.S. 496 (1987) this aggravating factor is valid since the victim's status as a law enforcement officer is a relevant circumstance of the offense. This aggravator is analogous to the enhancement of the crime of battery when the victim of the battery is a law enforcement officer in the line of duty.
- 15. The trial court did not err in denying appellant's request to instruct the jury on specific nonstatutory mitigating factors, especially where appellant advised the jury of what specific nonstatutory mitigating factors they could find.
- 16. Since it is not cruel and unusual punishment for a judge to impose the death penalty when the majority of the jury recommends a life sentence, it therefore follows that it is not cruel and unusual punishment for a judge to impose the death penalty when the jury recommends, by an eight to four vote, that death be imposed.
- 17. During the penalty phase, the trial court instructed the jury in accordance with the standard jury instructions; as such, it was not error to refuse to advise the jury that they could recommend life in the absence of any mitigating factors and the existence of aggravating factors.
- 18. The trial court's imposition of the death penalty is not disproportionate for sentences imposed in similar offenses; appellant murdered a police officer in the line of duty, and four aggravating factors and no mitigating factors were found.
- 19. In light of appellant's stipulation with the State regarding appellant's sentences on the non-capital felony

offenses, the trial court did not err in failing to prepare a sentencing guidelines scoresheet.

POINT I

COURT DID NOT THE TRIAL. COMMIT **ERRORS** DURING THE JURY SELECTION \mathbf{TO} FAILING TO STRIKE THE VENIRE DUE COMMENTS MADE BY THE CLERK OF THE COURT, DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION INDIVIDUAL VOIR DIRE, AND BYDENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE.

A. Motion to Strike Venire:

Appellant claims that reversible error occurred when the trial court refused to dismiss the jury venire upon learning that the clerk of the court, John Dunkle, had communicated with the prospective jury venire. Upon learning of the communication, the trial court conducted an inquiry of what transpired during the clerk's communications with the venire, and allowed questioning of witness Gordon Richstone (R. 802-823). Despite appellant's request, the trial court did, however, refuse to call in John Dunkle to inquire into what the jury venire was told. The trial court felt that, absent an accurate transcription of what was stated, he could not make an appropriate ruling on the matter (R. 800-802). Indeed, it appeared that the trial court was aware of the Clerk's practice of welcoming prospective jurors with opening remarks about the court system; the court noted that the Clerk emphasizes to the prospective jurors that the lawyers and the judge will provide them with true and accurate statements of the law (R. 801).

In cases involving impermissible contact with the jury or juror misconduct, the trial court must determine whether the material or contact raises serious questions of possible

prejudice to the litigants; if so, the trial court must determine whether the material has actually reached the jury and whether the contact interferes with the jurors' ability to render an impartial verdict. Alfonso v State, 443 So.2d 176 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). The extent of the inquiry to be undertaken is within the trial court's discretion. Id.; Jones v State, 411 So.2d 165 (Fla.) cert. denied, 459 U.S. 891, 103 S.Ct. 189, 74 L.Ed.2d 153 (1982).

Based on said inquiry, the defendant bears the initial burden of establishing that the conduct was presumptively prejudicial; once the defendant meets this burden, the onus shifts to the state to demonstrate that the contact with the jurors was harmless. Amazon v State, 487 So.2d 8 (Fla.) cert. denied, 479 U.S. 914, 107 S.Ct. 314, 93 L.Ed.2d 288 (1986); See State v Hamilton, 574 So.2d 124 (Fla. 1991).

Applying the foregoing to the instant case, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to call John Dunkle, the clerk of the court, to testify, or in declaring a mistrial. Assuming for the sake of argument that appellant established that the conduct <u>sub judice</u> was presumptively prejudicial, any error was harmless. First, the contact at issue occurred at the preliminary stages of trial, before the commencement of voir dire. At the opening of voir dire, the trial court instructed the jury on the general legal principles applicable in a criminal trial (R. 860-861, 880, 1317-1319, 1351-1352, 1427-1429, 1552-1553, 1653, 1679-1681). Furthermore, both the prosecutor and

defense counsel extensively questioned the prospective jurors about their ability to be fair and impartial jurors (R. 941-963, 978-1064, 1068-1075, 1123-1142, 1148-1158, 1165-1210, 1224-1237, 1253-1274, 1287-1291, 1292-1301, 1352-1401, 1458-1500, 1505-1537, 1586-1641, 1696-1770). The jury again received instructions regarding the burden of proof, the presumption of innocence, and the right to silence after the jury was sworn and in the jury charge (R. 1791-1792). Moreover, the jury was given a written copy of the instructions to take back with them during their deliberations.

Secondly, the testimony of Gordon Richstone did not necessarily establish that appellant was prejudiced by the Clerk's communications. Richstone admitted that he did not hear all that the Clerk said (R. 814), nor did the Clerk specifically mention appellant's case (R. 810). Furthermore, according to Richstone, the Clerk did advise the prospective jurors that the judge would instruct the jury on the law (R. 805).

Thirdly, in the cases relied on by appellant, namely Holzapfel v State, 120 So.2d 195 (Fla. 1960) and McQuay v State, 352 So.2d 1276 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), the unauthorized communications occurred during the jury's deliberations. This Court has recognized that jury deliberations are an especially sensitive portion of trial, State v Hamilton, 574 So.2d at 126. Contrarily, the communication which appellant complains of at bar occurred at the most preliminary stages of a trial which transgressed over about a two week period. As such, the trial

court's repeated instructions to the jury cured any prejudice which may have resulted from the Clerk's statements. See Peri v State, 426 So.2d 1021, 1025 (Fla. 1983). Further, given the passage of time, it is highly questionable whether any of the jurors remembered any of the Clerk's comments.

By the same token, jurors are presumed to follow the law as they are instructed by the trial court, Raulerson v Wainwright, 753 F.2d 869, 876 (11th Cir. 1985), and the jury instructions must be viewed in the context of the overall charge, Cupp v Naughten, 414 U.S. 141, 94 S.Ct. 396, 38 L.Ed.2d 368, 373 (1973). Thus, when considered together with the fact that the communication occurred at the preliminary stages of trial, any impact which may have resulted from the Clerk's communications is virtually nil. As such, any error was harmless.

Finally, appellant's right to confrontation was not violated by the trial court's refusal to inquire of John Dunkle as to what he told the jury. As pointed out above, it was within the trial court's discretion to determine whether questioning of the Clerk Alfonso v State, 443 So.2d at 178. was required. determined that transcription a οf the complained communication would have been the best evidence, the trial court was not obliged to call in the Clerk. Contrary to appellant's assertions, questioning of John Dunkle was not required pursuant to the confrontation clause since the Sixth Amendment quarantees the right of the accused to confront the witnesses against him. In the scenario at bar, Dunkle was not a witness against the

appellant, and the purpose of the trial court's inquiry did not necessitate an inquiry of the Clerk. The inquiry which the trial court did conduct was adequate to a determination of whether appellant was prejudiced by the communication. Having found that no prejudice resulted, the trial court did not err in refusing to declare a mistrial.

B. Individual Voir Dire:

Appellant argues that, based on the pretrial publicity which appellant's case received, the trial court erred in refusing to individually question the prospective jurors who had knowledge of the case, about the specific details of what they knew. Appellant acknowledges that Mu'Min v Virginia, 500 U.S. ____, 111 S.Ct. ____, 114 L.Ed.2d 493 (1991) does not require that jurors be questioned about the specific contents of news reports to which they have been exposed. Nonetheless, appellant urges this Court to hold that individual questioning about a juror's specific knowledge of a case be required where the case has received extensive pretrial publicity. The State maintains that Florida law has never required individual questioning of jurors about the specific contents of news reports where a case has received extensive pretrial publicity, and that the holding of Mu'Min is essentially in line with Florida law.

So.2d 67 (Fla. 1984) cert. denied, 473 U.S. 913, 105 S.Ct. 3540, 87 L.Ed.2d 663 (1985); Stone v State, 378 So.2d 765 (Fla.) cert. denied, 449 U.S. 986, 101 S.Ct. 407, 66 L.Ed.2d 250 (1980). Moreover, the fact that a prospective juror has knowledge of the case as a result of pretrial publicity does not necessarily indicate that the juror is not impartial. Murphy v Florida, 421 U.S. 794, 95 S.Ct. 2031, 44 L.Ed.2d 589 (1975). Rather, the proper focus is whether the juror's knowledge of the case creates prejudice against the accused. Davis v State, 461 So.2d at 69.

The test for determining a juror's competency is whether that juror can lay aside any prejudice or bias and decide the case solely on the evidence presented and the instructions given.

Stano v State, 473 So.2d 1282, 1285 (Fla. 1985) cert. denied, 474
U.S. 1093, 106 S.Ct. 879, 88 L.Ed.2d 907 (1986).

Thus, the existing law in Florida prior to <u>Mu'Min</u> recognized that individualized voir dire to determine a juror's specific knowledge of a case from pretrial publicity, is not <u>per se</u> mandated in every case which has received media exposure. Indeed, while the trial court in <u>Cummings v Dugger</u>, 862 F.2d 1504 (11th Cir.) <u>cert. denied</u>, 490 U.S. 111, 109 S.Ct. 3169, 104 L.Ed.2d 1031 (1989), conducted individual voir dire, the trial

In <u>Mu'Min</u>, the United States Supreme Court specifically noted that the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, which encompasses Florida, does not mandate individualized questioning into a jurors specific knowledge of news reports of a case to which the juror has been exposed. 114 L.Ed.2d at 506. While not binding in Florida, federal decisions are highly persuasive in deciding Florida law. See Moore v State, 452 So.2d 559 (Fla. 1984); Brown v Brown, 432 So.2d 704 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

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